Gentle Tarot Cards to Strengthen Your Connection with Your Precious Guardian Angels!

GUARDIAN ANGEL MESSAGES TAROT was created for anyone who wants easy access to messages from the Divine as well as for those who would like to deepen their relationship with their guardian angels. The deck is also designed especially for highly sensitive people seeking a comforting and safe way to get clear guidance for themselves and others.



Best-selling author Radleigh Valentine has created 8 divination decks and 3 books and is published in over 20 languages worldwide. He has presented at over 100 events in 10 countries and also works ARC

BOOK

ADLEIGH

with thousands of students a year via his online school. Blending humor with spiritual poignancy, his teachings enchant audiences with the message that each and every one of us deserves to live a magical life. For more information, please visit www.radleighvalentine.com

Cover illustration: Dan Craig • Photo of Radleigh: From the Hip Photo



MESSAGES

TAROT

Juardian



GUIDEBOOK

Radleigh Valentine



HAY HOUSE, INC. Carlsbad, California • New York City London • Sydney • New Delhi

Copyright © 2021 by Radleigh Valentine

Published in the United States by: Hay House, Inc.: www.hayhouse.com[®] • Published in Australia by: Hay House Australia Pty. Ltd.: www.hayhouse.com.au • Published in the United Kingdom by: Hay House UK, Ltd.: www.hayhouse.co.uk • Published in India by: Hay House Publishers India: www.hayhouse.co.in

Interior design: Bryn Starr Best

All rights reserved. No part of this guidebook may be reproduced by any mechanical, photographic, or electronic process, or in the form of a phonographic recording; nor may it be stored in a retrieval system, transmitted, or otherwise be copied for public or private use—other than for "fair use" as brief quotations embodied in articles and reviews—without prior written permission of the publisher.

The author of this guidebook does not dispense medical advice or prescribe the use of any technique as a form of treatment for physical, emotional, or medical problems without the advice of a physician, either directly or indirectly. The intent of the author is only to offer information of a general nature to help you in your quest for emotional, physical, and spiritual well-being. In the event you use any of the information in this book for yourself, the author and the publisher assume no responsibility for your actions.

Printed in China

ALSO BY RADLEIGH VALENTINE

Books

The Big Book of Angel Tarot: The Essential Guide to Symbols, Spreads, and Accurate Readings

Compendium of Magical Things: Communicating with the Divine to Create the Life of Your Dreams

How to Be Your Own Genie: Manifesting the Magical Life You Were Born to Live

Card Decks

Animal Tarot Cards (art by Dan Craig) Angel Answers Oracle Cards (art by Marius Michael-George) Angel Wisdom Tarot (art by Dan Craig) Archangel Power Tarot Cards (art by Jeff Bedrick) Angel Tarot Cards (art by Steve A. Roberts) Fairy Tarot Cards (art by Howard David Johnson)

All of the above are available online and at your local bookstore.

Please visit:

Radleigh's website: www.RadleighValentine.com Hay House USA: www.hayhouse.com® Hay House Australia: www.hayhouse.co.uk Hay House UK: www.hayhouse.co.uk Hay House India: www.hayhouse.co.in



For Joshua, Daniel, and Jeret (Yeah, I know. "It's about time.")



CONTENTS

Introductic	$pn.\ldots\ldots 1$
How to We	ork with the Guardian Angel
	Tarot <i>Cards</i> 6
The Magic	al Meanings of the Cards 32
The Ma	jor Arcana
0	The Dreamer
1	The Magician
2	The High Priestess 40
3	The Empress
4	The Emperor
5	Wise Counselor 46
6	The Lovers
7	The Chariot 50
8	Justice
9	The Hermit
10	The Wheel
11	Strength
12	Awakening60
13	Release
14	Balance64
15	Ego
16	Transformation

18 The Moon . 19 The Sun 20 Renewal				
The Minor Arcana				
The Suit of Fire				
• Ace84	• Eight98			
• Two86	• Nine 100			
• Three88	• Ten 102			
• Four90	• Page104			
• Five 92	 Knight106 			
• Six94	• Queen108			
• Seven96	• King 110			
The Suit of Water 112				
• Ace 114	• Eight128			
• Two116	• Nine 130			
• Three 118	• Ten 132			
• Four120	• Page 134			
• Five 122	• Knight136			
• Six124	• Queen138			
• Seven126	• King140			

The Suit of Air	
• Ace 144	• Eight158
• Two146	• Nine160
• Three 148	• Ten 162
• Four 150	• Page 164
• Five152	• Knight 166
• Six154	• Queen168
• Seven 156	• King170
The Suit of Earth	
• Ace 174	• Eight188
• Two176	• Nine190
• Three 178	• Ten 192
• Four 180	• Page 194
• Five182	• Knight 196
• Six184	• Queen 198
• Seven 186	• King 200
About the Artist	
About the Author	

INTRODUCTION

Guardian angels have been speaking to me since I was five years old. I consider it part of my life purpose to be a sort of publicrelations guy for the guardian angels! I know that many people love the archangels and may prefer their relationships with them. The archangels can seem more glamorous, with their specific aura colors and ability to handle particular concerns in our lives. But guardian angels are unique to you and are with you 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. They are with you when you are born, and they never leave you. Even when you pass back into spirit, they are with you on the journey back to the Divine. They love and adore you. They never, ever judge you-that isn't their job.

Their *job* is to help you through life in any way possible. But you do have to ask for their assistance. I recommend that you say a little prayer to request their loving guidance upon awakening every day. The prayer can be whatever you want it to be. This is mine: "Dear guardian angels, please be with me in all ways, in all things, and in all directions of time. Let there be no limit to the ways in which you can assist me today."

Just something as simple as those two sentences frees up your angels to come to your aid without violating your free will. Of course, if you have something specific you'd like help with, you can add that to your prayer.

Working with your guardian angels usually takes a little practice. It requires reaching out to them daily and training yourself to be aware of their messages to you. Many people find that difficult to manage. For that reason, *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* was created as your easy, magical "direct line" to your personal guardian angels. Think of these cards as being like a smartphone connecting you to the angelic realm!

Every message you receive from this deck is meant to reflect words from your guardian angels. The Divine guidance they present to you comes with love, light, and kindness. At times, there may be messages that caution you or ask you to reconsider your plans, but you should look upon that information as a "heads-up" to help you avoid mistakes and live a more joyful life.

A Note about the Cards in This Deck

Over the years, I have created many tarot decks that remove unnecessary fearful imagery and harsh words in favor of replacements that are not only more accurate but also in line with the sensitivities of the 21st century. The purpose was never to diminish or dilute the meanings and messages of the cards. When I remove a piece of symbolism that many people would find difficult to look at (including myself) I replace it with something that represents the same spiritual concept. The idea is to open the heart and mind to the messages from Divine Spirit without people feeling like they have to cover their eyes—or the eyes of their clients.

For every card in this deck, there is a short, channeled message from the guardian angels in the guidebook entry. The cards themselves have three guidewords rather than the full message. When you pull a card, I want you to examine the details in the images and allow the simple words to guide your intuition as to the message the angels are trying to tell you. Then you can flip to the guidebook for more details.

Stories are interwoven throughout the Minor Arcana, so you'll see several characters come and go throughout the suits. For example, the woman facing a barricade in the Five of Fire emerges triumphant in the Six of Fire. The child in the Ace of Air slowly grows up through the Two of Air and the Page of Air.

The Major Arcana features traditional depictions of guardian angels in their winged yet humanlike forms. The presence of angels in the Minor Arcana, on the other hand, is also shown using the symbols that they often send to let you know they are there: rays of light, a white feather, a butterfly, coins, and repeating numbers such as 44. When you see any of these signs, take it as a message from your angels that they are with you. It is also my hope that by becoming familiar with these symbols in the card images, you become more aware of them

as you move through your daily life. Your guardian angels are constantly sending you signs that they are with you and that they love you!

As you work with the *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot*, you may notice that you really resonate with a particular angel on a card, especially among the Major Arcana or court cards (I'll explain more about that in the next section). It may sort of "ring a bell" of awareness, or perhaps your heart will seem to skip a beat. If that happens, take a moment to consider that maybe that image is meant to be a representation of one of *your* guardian angels, reaching out to say hello.

do

The guardian angels love you. They want nothing more than to have a close connection with you. I hope that the *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* deck is your gateway into having just that sort of relationship.

Angel blessings, Radleigh

How to Work with the Guardian ANGEL MESSAGES TAROT CARDS

Cocoo)

Tarot is what I call a "language of the Divine." It's a way to speak to Source, Spirit, the Universe, God/Goddess—you pick your favorite term, as I consider them all to be synonymous. In fact, as you read this guidebook and the cards, you will notice that I use these names for the Divine at random. If I don't use your favorite word for the "All That Is," then please just pretend I did.

Tarot is one of the most accurate tools with which to receive detailed information and answers from Spirit. Of course, you can get guidance by going directly to the Divine and the angels. However, when you're stressed, it's difficult to feel their presence or hear their messages. That's when tarot cards can create a pipeline to Divine guidance for you. I travel a lot teaching about tarot and the angels, and I have seen countless people come to love tarot as I do because the products I created were more accessible. And yet, there were still those who were afraid of tarot. The question became: How could I reduce the fear level around tarot even more so that people might discover its beautiful and magical messages?

The answer was standing right beside me the whole time. *Guardian angels! Create a tarot deck based around the messengers from Source whose entire purpose is to make us feel safe.*

What a wonderful, magical, and amazing opportunity! I feel extremely blessed and humbled to get the chance to help people move beyond their fears of tarot while at the same time develop a more powerful and poignant relationship with their guardian angels.

Messages from Your Guardian Angels

One thing to keep in mind as you read through this guidebook (as well as begin using the cards): the term *angels* is meant to refer to your guardian angels only. You will discover the occasional reference to particular archangels (such as archangels Michael, Gabriel, and Uriel), but they are called out as such by name. If, for example, you read "The angels want you to know they love you," that is a reference to your *guardian* angels.

I am always talking to my own guardian angels. However, while creating this deck I became aware of what I call the Guardian Angel Council. As I would ask for a message for each card, I came to realize that the voices I was aware of were more like a chorus than the regular individual ones I am accustomed to when chatting up my personal angels. Joshua, my primary guardian angel, explained to me that what I was tapping into was the universal group of angels protecting humankind. That kept the voices more neutral and not specific to the way I needed to hear an angelic message. By lending their voices as a group, the Guardian Angel Council hoped that the channeled messages would resonate with everyone who works with the Guardian Angel Messages Tarot.

Who Are the Guardian Angels?

Guardian angels are messengers from Source who journey through life with us. They spend their time protecting, loving, and guiding us-so long as we are open to that interaction. My experience has been that everyone has at least two guardian angels. Some people have more! There may be a "primary" guardian angel whose voice is the "loudest" or easiest for you to pick up on. I've noticed that guardian angels might present themselves to their beloved humans one at a time, or all at once. Sometimes "special project" angels come to stay with a person for a time. Often that is during a period of great importance in the person's life, but once that time has passed, specialproject angels seek out a new assignment with someone else.

Guardian angels *never* leave. They are with you your entire life.

Your angels will show up for you in the form that you need them to. If your vision of your guardian angels is very traditional white flowing robes, big wings, and a golden halo—it's because that's how you can best connect with them in this life. A guardian angel could just as easily show up like a grandfatherly type, a little girl, or a bodyguard. They will present themselves however you need them to. Because of that, the angels depicted in this deck reflect a multitude of visual possibilities.

About Your *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* Cards

If you've ever used a deck of angel oracle cards, then the *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* will feel very comfortable to you! The only real difference between angel oracle cards and tarot is that the latter follows a structured story line of what life is like on Earth. We are born, go to school, meet friends, fall in love, and choose careers. All these aspects of life (and many more) are found in tarot. Because millions of people have lovingly sought guidance from tarot, it has become a language of the Divine. And it is extremely reliable and accurate. It may surprise you to know that tarot was originally a parlor game, similar to bridge! As time went by, intuitive people realized there was more to it. At many times in human history it was not always safe to fully display one's intuition, for fear of reprisals. This is one of the reasons why tarot had such a secretive nature in the ancient past. But we are very blessed that in today's world, most of us are now free to openly embrace our spiritual gifts to help those in need.

do

The classic structure of tarot has been retained in this deck, with changes that express the loving and supportive nature of guardian angels. Every card is safe for highly sensitive people.

Tarot originally consisted of two sets of cards called *Arcana*. These two Arcana were later combined into the now-traditional 78 cards. The first set is called the **Major Arcana**, comprising 22 cards that describe major events and turning points in our lives (like marriage, pregnancy, relationship and career changes, and overcoming personal

challenges). The Major Arcana cards can also represent the different phases from childhood to old age.

The second set of cards is called the Minor Arcana, which consists of four suits representing different aspects of human life. The Minor Arcana cards are numbered 1 (Ace) through 10, plus an additional four cards traditionally referred to as *court cards* (Page, Knight, Queen, and King). While the Major Arcana represents major life transitions, the Minor Arcana usually reflects the day-to-day aspects of—and people in—our lives.

On a historical note, the Major Arcana was originally created with Justice as the 8th card and Strength as the 11th card. However, in the early 20th century, Arthur Edward Waite flipped the cards' positions when he created his famous Rider-Waite deck. His reasons for doing so were obscure, and the result was disruptive to the flow of the Major Arcana's spiritual-path story. So they have been restored to their original positions in the *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot*.

In traditional tarot, the four suits of the Minor Arcana are usually named *wands*,

cups, swords, and *coins.* However, the suits of *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* have been renamed *Fire, Water, Air,* and *Earth.* You'll read more about these suits later in this guidebook.

Court cards (the Page, Knight, Queen, and King) can represent either a situation or a person during a reading. In order to make it easy for the reader, each guidebook entry begins with situational descriptions, with personality attributes listed afterward. To know which is relevant in the reading, review the surrounding cards and let your intuition guide you.

It's also important to note that the genders depicted on the court cards aren't something you should be tied to. For example, if you are acquainted with someone who is male but sounds exactly like the Queen of Water, you should consider that card to reflect the man you know. (Think of it this way... how ridiculous would it be to double the number of court cards just so you could have a male *and* a female card representing the same type of person?)

The court cards also reflect a particular type of energy. Pages are often young (or young at heart) and represent someone—or a kind of situation—new to the recipient of the card. You might also think of Pages as being like friends you can trust with your secrets. Knights are often people who get things done. They can also have an emotional dimension, so they can be lovers, partners, or just people with whom we enjoy a very intimate but platonic friendship.

Queens are nurturers and, as such, can have a maternal energy around them. If they are showing up as a male in your life, then it's probably because that man is very kind, loving, and giving. Kings are leaders and often have a paternal feel. If a King is associated with a woman in your life, she's probably a very powerful and independent one. Though it should be mentioned that there *are* deeply compassionate Kings and highly independent Queens in tarot.

As I mentioned in the Introduction, you might pay special attention to the guardian angels among the Major Arcana cards in a reading and whether you have a sense of "knowing" or a tug at your heart that the angel in the image is visually representing your guardian angel. That could also happen for *any* card in the deck, but the images of the Major Arcana were intended especially to make that connection for you.

While the court cards are meant to reflect people or situations in your life (or even yourself), a tug at your heart might also imply that they are visually representing your guardian angels or those of your clients. So pay attention to your intuition when court cards show up in a reading.

Since each individual tarot card has multiple possible meanings, I recommend you read each description in this guidebook and let your intuition lead you to the appropriate interpretation for the reading. Trust your angels and feelings to guide you. The cards in this deck are rich with symbolism and imagery, and the illustrations also provide answers and messages. Notice which aspects of each card's painting capture your attention, as that can be part of your answer. This guidebook, coupled with your intuition, will help you understand answers to all your questions.

How to Use Your *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* Cards

An important concept to understand before beginning to work with your tarot cards is the "Law of Attraction." Simply put, this is the idea that whatever you place your mental and emotional focus on is what you'll bring into your life. So if you focus on positive, happy things you want, then that's what you'll manifest! If you keep your focus on worry, fear, and the things you *don't* want in your life, then . . . well, guess what? *That* is what you'll get.

In many ways, tarot is based on the Law of Attraction. It's what guides your hands to the perfect cards for any reading. The Law of Attraction can change your life into the magical one you were born to live. (For more information on the Law of Attraction and how to use it to make magic in your life, check out my book *How to Be Your Own Genie.*)

Here's how to prepare and work with your *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* cards:

Step 1: Clean Them Up!

Guardian Angel Messages Tarot cards were designed with the intention that they be a tool for speaking to the Divine and your personal angels. As such, they're very sensitive to energy. That's how they work! With that in mind, it makes sense that as they traveled from the printer to the store and then into your magical hands, they probably picked up all kinds of energy from others. (Hint: you don't want that energy in your cards.) Any residual connections to people who may have handled your deck can confuse your readings. You want only your energy in your cards. But hey—this is no problem! You can clear your cards of any "icky-ew-ew" they might have picked up. And it's so easy! Here's what you do. . . .

Take your cards out of the box and hold them in your nondominant hand (that's the hand you usually don't use to write with). With your other hand, make a gentle fist and give the deck a little knock with your knuckles. Imagine in your mind's eye that any residual energy just fell out the bottom of the cards. Alternatively, you can place your open, flat hand over the cards and imagine white light coming down from Source into your head, moving into your hand, and flowing from your hand into the cards to clear them. Either way works. Now your cards are clear and ready for angelic programming.

Step 2: Get Them Ready!

Now that your cards are crystal clear, it's time to put *your* energy into them. To do this, hold the deck in front of you with the card images facing you. What you're going to do is to touch each card as if to say "hello!" There are 78 cards in tarot, so if it's a challenge for you to hold all the cards at once, it's perfectly fine to break the deck into two (or more) batches and say hello in sections.

Once you've touched each card and made your introductions, pick up the entire deck and just sort of fan it out in your hand. Now hold the deck over your heart. Imagine white light emanating from above, coming into your head, and moving into your heart. That light then moves from your heart into the cards.

Now it's time to say a little blessing for the cards. It can be anything you like, working with the Universe, the angels, or any ascended master you choose. Whatever words come to you are perfect. To give you an example, here's the blessing that I use:

Dear guardian angels, please bless this deck so that it may be a tool for communicating with you; the Divine; and the souls of those who would seek comfort, peace, and insight. I ask that the information that comes from these cards be meaningful, be purposeful, be of value. Let the messages really make a difference in my and other people's lives. May I see, hear, feel, and know the words of Spirit and convey them in such a way as to enlighten, inspire, and heal. And so it is.

Yay! Now your deck is clear, brimming with your magical energy, and ready to help you change your life and the lives of those you love. Keep in mind that should you allow someone else to touch your cards, you'll need to clear and bless them again, so you might not want to let others handle them. It's up to you, according to your own personal guidance, if you do or don't.

Step 3: Shuffle, Shuffle, Shuffle!

It's important to shuffle your cards very thoroughly before you start to work with them. Here's why: if you don't, then initially you're going to see a lot of cards of the same suit or with sequential numbers. For example, if you try to do a three-card reading and the Four of Water, Five of Water, and Six of Water show up, what are you going to think? Yup! Your ego is going to talk over your intuition and tell you, *Well, that's not a real reading! You just didn't shuffle well!*

As someone who has done readings for decades, I can tell you that it will eventually happen that three cards of the same suit will show up in a row during a reading. What you want to know in your heart of hearts is that your deck was shuffled sufficiently and that your reading is a *genuine* reading. Shuffling thoroughly puts a gag order on your ego. (At least on *that* topic.)

Decide before you begin to shuffle how you'll *pull* cards for the reading. Will you take the card from the top of the stack as your answer? Will you pull a card from the middle of the deck based on your intuition? It doesn't matter which way you do it. Follow your guidance. But decide beforehand which way you plan to choose cards and let your angels know that that's your way of doing things.

Start shuffling the cards. It doesn't matter what way you shuffle them; just do it however you feel called to. (I begin by giving them a really good shuffle, then break the cards into four stacks. I shuffle stacks one and two together, stacks three and four together, and then the remaining two stacks together.)

If a card just sort of pops out of the deck, that's called a "jumping card," and it's part of the reading. Set it aside and keep shuffling.

At some point you'll feel or know that you're done shuffling. Now turn the deck over so that the images are facing you. Start going through the cards. You'll probably come across cards that are still hanging out with their friends. For example, if the Two of Water, Three of Water, and Four of Water appear in order, take the Two of Water out and mix it into the middle of the deck. Do the same with the Three of Water, and leave the Four of Water where it is. Go through the entire deck until no cards are in order. Then turn the deck back around so that the images aren't facing you and give it three more shuffles.

Some tarotists believe that it's important to shuffle the cards so that some are upright and others are reversed. Within certain decks, the meaning of the card changes based on its orientation. No particular additional meanings have been attributed to reversed cards in this deck. If you receive a reversed card, all you have to do is turn the card right-side up—but give that card particular emphasis in the reading. However, if you are already well versed in reading reversed cards, you are more than welcome to do so with the *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot*.

Now your deck is ready! And your ego? It's effectively silenced, allowing your intuition to clearly receive messages from the angels.

Step 4: Pull a Card

Okay! Let's do our first reading. Before I begin any session for myself or others, I always like to start with a little prayer. Again, this can be whatever you want it to be. As an example, here's what I use:

Dear guardian angels; Divine Spirit; and archangels Uriel, Haniel, Jeremiel, and Michael, please be with me today for the readings that I will do. Please bless all involved with perfect peace and calm. Let everyone feel safe, loved, and connected to the All That Is. Please inspire and enlighten me with answers that come directly from the Divine. Let my guardian angels' voices be heard. Please speak to me clearly and concisely through the cards so that I can understand all messages perfectly and easily. And so it is.

Let's start with a one-card reading. So . . . what's on your mind? Which question would you like to begin with? It can be as simple as "What do I need to know right now?" or something more specific. I can tell you that I teach my students: "Ask a vague question; get a vague answer." So, in general, more specific questions are the way to go. But for your first reading, "What do I need to know right now?" is just fine!

Pull a card in the way you told your angels to expect. Look at the card's words and images. Check out the meaning in the guidebook. If you had any jumping cards, consider those as well. If you don't at first understand the message, set the card aside and go through your day with an open heart, with the intention that it will make itself known to you.

Pay attention to repeating themes or symbols. If the same card—or cards from the same suit—recurs frequently in your readings, what might that indicate in your life?

Three-Card Readings

One of the most popular types of readings is a three-card reading, which typically reflects the past, present, and future energy surrounding your question. To begin, just follow steps 3 and 4 with the intention of pulling three cards this time. With the pictures and words faceup, lay the first card to your left, the second one in the middle, and the third to the right.



Card 1 reflects how the past is influencing your situation. Card 2 is all about what's going on in the here and now. Finally, Card 3 is your future or the most likely outcome if nothing changes. Always, always remember you have free will. If you don't like Card 3, ask the cards and your angels what changes you should make right now to create a different outcome.

Celtic Cross Card Spread

Without question, one of the most popular and beloved card spreads in tarot is the Celtic Cross. This type of reading can be used to get very detailed answers to questions about any topic. This really isn't intended for simple questions. The three-card spread will suffice for that. But if your question is especially deep, complex, or poignant, the Celtic Cross is the way to go.

After completing steps 3 and 4 described earlier, lay out 10 cards faceup in the order shown in the diagram.

- Card 1 represents the present moment. It can refer to whoever is getting a reading or the primary concerns on the client's mind.
- Card 2 represents the current challenge affecting Card 1. It can indicate a block that keeps a situation from getting resolved or moving forward, or it may signify the cause of the challenge that the client is experiencing at the moment.


- Card 3 represents the basis or "foundation" of the question. This may be linked to subconscious influences imposed by someone involved (including the client), information that this person is keeping quiet due to embarrassment, or experiences from the distant past that are still affecting the client in the present day.
- Card 4 represents the past (recent or distant) relevant to the situation. This can also indicate a situation that has come to a conclusion in a way that the client may judge to be not so good.
- Card 5 represents the present. This card may also signify what the client feels able to accomplish or is hoping to achieve. If Card 3 is the subconscious, then Card 5 is the conscious.
- **Card 6** represents the near future. It's often an event or a shift in the energy of the situation. It can also

indicate someone new who's going to come into the person's life bearing on the question being asked.

- Card 7 represents one's power in the situation. If the card drawn is a strong, empowering card, then the client is maintaining their personal power. If the card is one that is challenging or difficult, then it may be that the client has relinquished control to someone else. This can also shed light on how clients see themselves at the moment.
- Card 8 represents the effects of people. It often refers to friends, family, people at work, or anyone who's involved with the question. It can also be an indicator of how other individuals see the client.
- Card 9 represents one's hopes or fears. This position indicates whether clients have a strong belief that things will work out, or are living in fear that they won't.

In much the same way as Card 7, positive cards indicate someone who has great hope. Challenging cards may indicate negative thoughts that are impacting the situation.

• Card 10 represents the outcome. If no action is taken to change the situation, then this card indicates what to expect as the likely result. However, we must always remember that we have free will. If we don't like the direction in which things are headed, we can and must change our path!

do

If your exploration of tarot leaves you wanting to learn more, I recommend you read *The Big Book of Angel Tarot*. While I wrote it to go hand in hand with my *Angel Tarot Cards* deck, the basic concepts are applicable to all my tarot decks. And like every one of my publications, the book is designed to take advanced concepts and

make them easy to understand and completely free of fear.

In the next section of this guidebook, you'll find meanings for each card. Remember that you have freewill choices about all areas of your life, and you can also change the outcome of any situation through prayer, visualization, and positive affirmations. Source and your angels can help alter your future for the better if you'll just ask for, and be open to, their assistance.





This guidebook explains the general meanings for every card in the *Guardian Angel Messages Tarot* deck. As is traditional for tarot, the Major Arcana cards are listed first numerically, followed by the Minor Arcana cards, which are listed Ace through King by suit.

When you're ready to look up a card's meaning, find the corresponding page and read the interpretation and symbolism for the entry. Your inner wisdom will tell you if any of the information applies to you, or it may trigger further insights about your situation. And remember that your intuition will offer you even more personalized messages from your angels, so as you read, simultaneously pay attention to your thoughts and feelings.

0~0





The Major Arcana consists of 22 cards that describe major events and turning points in our lives. The Major Arcana cards can also represent the different phases from childhood to old age. Each card is numbered, as is traditional in tarot.

Guardian angels are always there to help no matter the card you pull. But perhaps the power of their presence is felt more with the Major Arcana. This set of cards represents some of the most important and poignant moments of a person's life. You may notice that your connection to your guardian angels is just more palpable when dealing with these big life experiences.

00



The DREAMER

Now is the moment you have been waiting for! This is a joyful time of new beginnings when you can make bold changes in your life. Like a butterfly fluttering across a meadow, your dreams are beckoning for you to chase after them. Lay down your fears, concerns, or uncertainties and embrace the unending possibilities available to you at this time.

An unexpected opportunity may have recently presented itself to you, or one may do so in the very near future. Take this as a sign from Source and your guardian angels that it's time to finally break free and be the person you've always wanted to be. Don't wait another day to begin your journey along the path of happiness! ANGEL MESSAGE: We are very excited to be with you on this journey. We will keep you safe and guide you as you take this leap of faith.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Knowing that all things are possible. Childlike wonder. Having faith in your inner guidance. Releasing anything that holds you back. Going after your most heartfelt desires. Loving life.



The MAGICIAN

Life can be very magical! You've chosen this card because now your plans will really start to materialize. Your guardian angels are walking beside you every step of the way, helping you manifest everything you need. Now that you're on the path of your dreams, the Universe will reward you by making the road easier.

Look for little signs that your angels are helping you. Focus on those signs with joy and optimism, being sure to give gratitude. This in turn will increase the frequency with which you receive guidance. As you continue to move forward, you'll see clear and undeniable connections between all the work you've done to prepare for your journey and the skills needed to be a success in this moment. ANGEL MESSAGE: There is nothing you can't do, nothing you can't accomplish at this time. Ask and we will help to quiet the voices of uncertainty in your mind.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Suddenly realizing how very prepared you are for a task. Skill, creativity, and determination. Resources that seem to magically appear. The ability to make changes quickly and successfully.

00



The HIGH PRIESTESS

You have amazing wisdom within you! Take some time to be quiet and listen to the voice of the Divine and your guardian angels as they reach out to give you the answers you are seeking. Meditation and prayer are invaluable tools of guidance for you now. Consider taking a quiet walk to intuitively connect with your angels and to receive their counsel. You may even notice that guidance comes in your sleeping dreams to provide exciting revelations with respect to your life purpose.

This card is not about action but about becoming crystal clear on what it is you want to create. If you've been feeling worried about not taking action on your dreams, then release those concerns and be at peace. Patience is rewarded at this time. Your intuitive abilities are greatly enhanced, and it is important that you trust your intuition. Your emotions are like a powerful compass pointing you in the right direction. Follow them with confidence.

ANGEL MESSAGE: There is joy in peaceful inaction. Sit with us and we will help you envision the perfect plan for creating the life you desire.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Spiritual growth and reflection. Trusting your inner wisdom. Patience with yourself. Being completely trustworthy. Believing in the kindness and wisdom of the Universe. Following your own guidance.

0-0



The EMPRESS

This is a call to action! You have shown faith in your dreams, acquired the skills needed to attain them, and listened to the guidance of your angels. Now it is time to step out into the world and accomplish great things! If you show determination and devotion to your plans, you will be rewarded with abundance and prosperity. Seeds planted now will grow and provide a wonderful harvest! Career opportunities should be pursued with confidence.

This card can also reflect a great love of hearth and home. Questions regarding motherhood, children, or even creative endeavors are often indicated. There may be a desire to surround oneself with beautiful and luxurious things or a budding interest in becoming an artist. **ANGEL MESSAGE:** We are watching you with immense pride and love! Have no fear, for we are helping you every step of the way.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A love of nature and gardening. The ability to abundantly create. The perfect time to enact a plan. Pregnancy or the desire to "give birth" to a dream.

0~0



The EMPEROR

Organization and logic can be very helpful right now. Your efforts will bear fruit if you can create an orderly and methodical process for getting things done. Your creativity has brought you to this time of beautiful manifesting, but if you feel that there is more to do than you can wrap your head around, consider delegating some of the work to someone you can trust.

Stand back and take a very objective look at what is going on around you. When this card is drawn, it's best to make decisions based on intellectual considerations rather than emotions. Don't hesitate to consult a mentor or get advice from a skilled leader. Or if you are offered a position of leadership yourself, this card is a sign from your guardian angels that you are ready to take charge! ANGEL MESSAGE: Guardian angels are used to managing many different areas of concern at once. We are very detail oriented. If you need help getting organized or bringing order to chaos, ask us for help.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Thinking clearly. Success or recognition in your career. A leader whom you can trust. Fatherhood or father figures. Laying a solid foundation for a new project.





WISE COUNSELOR

It's so important to surround yourself with supportive, loving, and understanding souls! That may include people you already know, or perhaps it's time to join a new group of like-minded individuals. This card especially asks you to spend time with those who can help you grow spiritually and emotionally. Look for friendship or assistance from people who have their arms and hearts wide open!

This card can also speak to the way in which you're trying to accomplish something. Remember to make your choices with compassion and kindness toward others involved. If you are approaching a project or task in a very traditional way, then drawing this card may suggest that you should pursue a more creative path. However, if your attempts to do things in an unconventional way are generating challenges, perhaps it's time to return to methods that have already been tested and proven. Angel Message: We love being a spiritual bridge between you and the Divine. If you are feeling disconnected, ask us to help guide you back to your Source.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Educational or religious institutions. Seeking guidance from spiritual leaders. Taking or teaching classes. A need to be more flexible. Discovering what really matters in life.





The LOVERS

When this card is drawn, you can expect matters of the heart to take precedence. Powerful relationships may develop with newly met individuals, or already established relationships could start to progress to a deeper level.

In ancient tarot, this card was sometimes referred to as "The Choice." If you need to make an important decision, it's important to examine all sides of the matter very carefully. This card urges you to probe deep into your own emotions for answers. The action you take should be something you feel strongly about with all your heart. ANGEL MESSAGE: If you are seeking love, we can work with the angels of romance to bring it into your life quickly. Ask us to speak to the guardian angels of your current or future partner to help draw them closer to you.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A new relationship. Engagement or marriage. Making heartfelt choices. A return to vibrant health. Intimacy.



The CHARIOT

It's your moment to shine! This card indicates that you will receive recognition for the amazing things you have accomplished. When you find yourself in the spotlight, remember to embrace the warmth and love that has so deservedly come your way. If you feel uncomfortable with the attention, ask your angels to give you the confidence you need to step forward!

You may find yourself called to balance multiple priorities, projects, or people at this time. Stay centered and grounded. Avoid the temptation to go into drama about the situation. If you present a calm, collected, and positive demeanor, you will experience great success!

ANGEL MESSAGE: You're doing a wonderful job, and you deserve all the positive feedback you're receiving. Don't allow anything to throw you off course. We're so very proud of you! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Absolute clarity of purpose. A well-deserved promotion. Business travel. Remaining calm during challenges. Modes of transportation.

00



JUSTICE

You have absolutely nothing to worry about. Rest assured that only fair and honest decisions will be made when you receive this card. If events have had you feeling anxious and uneasy, take heart! Embrace your personal power and stand up for your beliefs so that things can develop in a way that will bring you peace.

If others have been unfair to you, know that the Universe and the angels will shed light upon the matter, and the situation will be healed. If you find yourself in a position to decide what is right or wrong, then let love be your guide. Base your decision not just on the letter of the law but also on the spirit of kindness, balance, and understanding.

ANGEL MESSAGE: Don't worry—we've got this! Stay in integrity in all your actions and we will make sure that truth and fairness prevail. ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Standing up for yourself! Apologies and forgiveness. Being objective but caring. The pursuit of equality. Choosing logic. Reviewing documents or contracts carefully.

man



The HERMIT

Seek and ye shall find. Ask your guardian angels for someone who can provide you with wise counsel and loving guidance, and you will discover a wonderful mentor or spiritual teacher. Or perhaps it is time for you to step out into the open as a teacher with many spiritual gifts. Do not underestimate the brightness of the light you have to offer others!

If you are currently on a quest for peace and enlightenment, do your seeking within. Meditation or time spent in nature can provide great insight. ANGEL MESSAGE: We love helping you, but we also know the power of having a human guide. Let us help establish the perfect spiritual mentoring relationship for you.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Rewarding time spent in solitude. Self-discovery. Excellent advice that you should follow. Taking a break from your hectic life.

6~0



The WHEEL

Your angels celebrate with you as good luck comes your way! Slow-moving events will now suddenly take a leap forward, and great progress will be possible. Unexpected opportunities provide you with the chance to implement real changes in your life.

It may be necessary for you to make clear and firm decisions very quickly. If the situation you find yourself in leaves you lacking confidence, ask for assistance from Source, your angels, or people around you.

ANGEL MESSAGE: We have heard your prayers, and we thank you for your patience. Everything is now prepared, the conditions optimal for the situation to move forward. We have taken it upon ourselves to call in extra angels to help so that things will improve immediately! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: An unexpected turn of events. A change for the better. Hope for a brighter tomorrow. A new vehicle. What goes around comes around.



Strength

You have been blessed with the heart, fortitude, and kindness to accomplish anything! There is no challenge or adversity you cannot overcome. You may not realize how strong you are, but the Divine knows that you possess the gift of gentle strength. Your spiritual nature will always win out over other people's negativity.

There is no need for you to back down from your convictions, although it may be necessary to say no to others in order to be kind to yourself. Just relay the information in a compassionate way and all will be well. It isn't enough to be gentle with others. You must also be gentle with yourself. ANGEL MESSAGE: You are so much stronger than you realize. We will help you establish a connection with your endless inner strength and personal resilience.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Forgiving and forgetting. Empowerment that comes through self-love. Courage. Tolerance of others.

6-0



Awakening

You are uniquely able to look past the current situation and envision endless possibilities! If plans haven't been moving forward as quickly as you like, it's because Source has a better path laid out for you. Try looking at things from a different perspective and you'll be pleasantly surprised by the opportunities currently open to you. The present pause in the action is temporary.

You may be called to set aside your own priorities in order to help someone else with their needs. It's all right to rush to another's aid, so long as you set balanced boundaries and then return to your own goals at the proper time.

ANGEL MESSAGE: Things aren't what they appear to be. Release your preconceived ideas and open your mind to allow a deeper clarity about the situation to present itself. Remember . . . not everything that happens to you is about you. ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Embracing your own uniqueness. Giving to others in a balanced, healthy way. Working for the higher good. Changing priorities. Original ideas.



RELEASE

It can be very liberating to leave the past behind. So often we hold on too long. We look backward to the past when we should be looking at the present or planning for the future.

While this card often signals endings, it leads the way to new beginnings. It asks you to stop resisting the necessary change that will make you a more fully alive, vibrant human angel on Earth. When experiences no longer serve your higher good, it is time to let go and trust the Divine to lovingly guide you toward joy.

ANGEL MESSAGE: Let go, and we will walk with you and help you spread your wings so that you may fly higher than ever before. A new beginning awaits you. ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Changing your life by changing your thoughts. An anticipated ending. Transformation. Reincarnation. Resurrection. Freedom.

00


BALANCE

There is great strength in diversity. This card suggests that the situation you find yourself in right now would be vastly improved by the melding of ideas with someone else. Who around you might have suggestions that, when blended with your own insights, would bring about a miraculous solution?

Rather than focusing on the differences between you and someone else, you have entered a time for compromise and working together. Be open to other people's ideas. Try to see the world as those around you see it. There is so much to gain by working together right now if you just seek out the win-win solution! **ANGEL MESSAGE:** Diversity of thought is a fabulous recipe that yields far more than the sum of its ingredients. Open your mind to the possibility of new flavors of ideas and the result will be delicious indeed!

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Taking a moderate approach. Cooperation. Seeking a perfect balance. Self-restraint. Reconciliation. Being patient until the time is right.



Ego

Sometimes we can feel as though we are trapped. We may perceive ourselves as being locked into a life that we don't want or like. What we often don't realize is that we hold the key to this "lock" and could free ourselves by making different choices. We can release our hearts from our prison of unhappiness by accepting responsibility for where we are, here and now. And by doing so, we can then step back into our own power.

Choose freedom! Ask your angels to remove every negative thought from your mind and help you focus on the amazing possibilities. Step past your fears and out into the light, where you can grow, evolve, and fly. Don't allow anyone or anything (including your own self-doubts) to keep you from being the person you wish to be! ANGEL MESSAGE: Your entrapment is an illusion! You are a child of the Divine with free will. If you are tired of your situation, choose to leave it, and we will help you make that happen.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Getting free of dependency or self-imposed limitations. Ending an unhealthy relationship. Forgiving yourself. Materialism.

0-0



TRANSFORMATION

Source is always leading us toward joy. Keep a watchful eye out for signs that it is time to head in a new direction. You may be led to change your career, where you live, or even the people you associate with. Perhaps there will be an event that guides you to release old beliefs in favor of a whole new philosophy of life!

Change can indeed be challenging, but it can also be exhilarating. The important thing to remember is that your angels want you to be happy and fulfilled. Everything that happens in life has a purpose and is a means to an end. If you can embrace that truth with love and gratitude in your heart, then no matter what you experience, you will be blessed. ANGEL MESSAGE: Resist the temptation to give in to fear. Keep the faith that current events will only lead you to a happier place. If you find it difficult to be positive, let us help uplift your thoughts and emotions about the situation.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Seeing the truth. Rapid changes. A spiritual awakening. Recognizing life changes as blessings rather than challenges. A wake-up call.

00



The STAR

Now is the time for gratitude and joy! The star you see on this card is the light at the end of the tunnel! Challenges fade away, and wonderful new experiences enter your life. Relationships that have been challenged in the past will now be rekindled.

Your angels encourage you to feel great optimism and hope! Show confidence in yourself and know that your newfound inspirations are Divinely orchestrated and your ideas will be fruitful. It's a good time to make long-term plans for the future. Consider this card to be like the candles on a birthday cake. Close your eyes, smile, and make a wish!

ANGEL MESSAGE: We are so happy for you! You are headed into a time of enchantment and joy. Be awake to the awareness that you have co-created this moment with the Universe. Let yourself feel the magic! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Renewed enthusiasm. Spiritual joy. Dreams realized. Listening to your guidance.

0-0



The MOON

Your intuitive abilities are at their peak! You can completely believe in the level of accuracy and the trustworthiness of the information and insights you are receiving. Pay close attention to nighttime dreams, as they are very important right now. They may reflect experiences from the past that are affecting the present, or they may be an indicator of things to come.

Don't allow fears or worries to dominate your thinking. There may be a need to make some changes to your plans, but that doesn't indicate anything other than the need for a course correction. Your angels are watching over your progress, as well as presenting you with signs pointing to areas of your life that need review. ANGEL MESSAGE: You are a very sensitive and intuitive soul. That is a gift, not something to fear. Give thanks for the insights that present themselves and analyze them from a place of courage and power. Trust yourself.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Trusting your own guidance over advice from others. Discovering unknown information. Sharing secrets with friends. Feeling moody. Finding your way to the truth.





The SUN

Congratulations! People will see you for the wonderful person you are. Public recognition is very likely, including awards, promotions, scholarships, or public appearances. Success is all but assured. Don't be shy—enjoy the spotlight!

Brilliant new ideas and astonishing epiphanies are possible now. Be open to opportunities that may never have occurred to you before. Just because an idea is new doesn't mean it isn't the perfect next step for you to take. Express yourself openly, honestly, and with complete confidence.

ANGEL MESSAGE: It gives us great joy when your fellow human souls see you the way we see you. You are an amazing, magical, beautiful child of the Divine. This is your time to shine! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Enlightenment. Excellent health. Blessings. The successful completion of a project. People you can trust.

6-0



RENEWAL

This is a very important moment in your life. Everything that has happened up until now has helped define who you are. What you do next will define who you will *become*. In this magic moment between what has been and what will be, take time to reflect and contemplate. What is your calling? Who are you, and who do you want to be? Resist the temptation to focus on sad reflections about the past. This should be a moment of personal power and optimism!

Let go of conventional thinking. Dance to the beat of your own drummer. Break free of old habits, and don't allow yourself to be held back by anyone else's opinions or viewpoints. This is your time to choose the direction of the rest of your life! ANGEL MESSAGE: Ask us for help in bringing clarity about your place in the world. Embrace the epiphanies that come from contemplation and meditation so you can make choices that celebrate who you truly are.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Discovering your life purpose. Releasing judgments about yourself and others. Evaluating the past. Starting anew. Seeing things clearly. The ability to do anything!

0-0



The WORLD

This is a moment of incredible accomplishment! All your efforts have come full circle, and you are to be congratulated for an amazing job. There is a feeling of joy, completion, and pride surrounding the work that has been done. Spiritual enlightenment has been sought, and you have grown a great deal. You are blessed.

It will soon be time to begin something new and exciting. As humans, we must continue to learn and evolve. But for now, take time to bask in this wonderful, precious moment of happiness!

ANGEL MESSAGE: This is an angelic "high five," and we are dancing with you in celebration (yes, guardian angels dance!). Your brilliant work fills us with nothing but pride and joy. Good job! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Fulfillment. Clarity of purpose. Cosmic awareness. Love of Mother Earth. Global activism. Dreams coming true.

79





The Minor Arcana consists of four suits (*Fire, Water, Air,* and *Earth*), which correlate with the historical suits of Wands, Cups, Swords, and Coins, respectively, in the traditional order of tarot. There are 14 cards in each suit, from Ace to King, similar to ordinary playing cards.

While the Major Arcana represents major life transitions, the Minor Arcana reflects the day-to-day aspects of our lives. The Minor Arcana's court cards (Page, Knight, Queen, and King) can represent either a situation or a person during a reading. The first section of these entries describes situations you're facing or guidance being provided by your angels. The second section identifies personality traits of people in your life. It may even be describing you!

It is also important to remember that genders of the court cards aren't meant to be read as a hard-and-fast rule. If you draw a card that happens to have a female on it, but the personality attributes sound to you like a male you know, then you should follow your guidance and interpret that card as referring to the male.





The first part of the Minor Arcana is all about creativity, passion, inspiration, and movement. It represents the day-to-day aspects of our careers, our ambitions, and where we are driven to accomplish great things. However, it also relates to our home lives, spiritual pursuits, and active extracurricular interests... just about anything that excites us or inflames our passions or stokes our creative sides. We may have our dreams, but without action they cannot come true!

Guardian angels can be of immense assistance when it comes to igniting your creativity and passions. You can ask them to help you to rediscover interests that used to excite you but that you might have forgotten or set aside due to a lack of faith. Guardian angels *love* to help you with your spiritual goals. They get excited when we follow our joy and chase after our dreams, because they know that the Divine wants nothing more for us than happiness.

83



This ace is the beginning of action! It is where you are newly inspired to create something original or go after a dream. New and exciting career opportunities often show up with the Ace of Fire. You may suddenly decide that you are going to learn to paint or take up a musical instrument. There is no procrastinating allowed with this card!

You must allow your inspirations and passions to take wing. You are being encouraged to spring into action! If you are offered a wonderful new venture, don't hesitate to accept. This is the moment when you can take a leap forward and change your life!

ANGEL MESSAGE: Here we go! This is the moment you've been waiting for. Put all of your heart and passion into this new beginning and remember that we are standing by to help in any way you desire. ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Starting a new business. Adventure. Passion for life. Changing careers. Courage and enthusiasm. Believing in yourself and your abilities.



So far, so good! You may have some decisions to make, but you also have time to arrive at them. Don't be concerned if you're noticing a little slowdown in the speed at which your plans are manifesting. Take this opportunity to work on your long-term vision.

You've accomplished a lot, but there is still a lot to do. Consider carefully if this might be the right time to take on a new partner for your endeavor. It's all right to be independent; however, it can also be of great benefit to have someone helping you along your path. Listening to the ideas of others could greatly expand your worldview! ANGEL MESSAGE: It's time to plan your next steps. Assume that whatever actions you take will be successful, and allow yourself to dream. If you're ready for a partner, let us help you find one.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Impressing those around you. Evaluating your options. Being a manager. Successfully negotiating a contract. Feeling a little restless. Gay relationships.





THREE of FIRE

Things are going very, very well! Your choices were good ones, and you can see that your ship is going to come in. Excellent! But now what? Have you put together your strategies for the next phase?

Success is wonderful, but you can't rest upon your laurels. It's time to move on to your next big adventure. It's safe to build upon your accomplishments for further growth, or you can choose to do something new. Where you go next is entirely up to you!

ANGEL MESSAGE: Two words: "Dream big!" Forget about the details for now and focus on your vision for the future. We can't wait to see what you come up with! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Things turning out just as expected. Traveling for your career. Setting new goals. Time for reflection. The need for patience.

0-0



What an incredible achievement! This is a time of prosperity and contentment. Your hard work has paid off, and now you can take some time to enjoy it. Abundance and a feeling of safety and security are yours. There is no cause for concern about anything right now. In fact, perhaps it's time for a celebration! This card often heralds events such as engagements, weddings, or other long-term commitments between couples.

You have earned a well-deserved break. Do something for yourself and those you love. Allow yourself to get caught up in the moment and enjoy all that Source has blessed you with! ANGEL MESSAGE: We have watched with admiration as you made your way to this place. It's a time for rejoicing but also a time for peace. Allow yourself to be in joyful reflection and take pride in what you have accomplished in your personal or professional life.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Putting down roots. Satisfaction. Not a care in the world. Harvest. Peace. A happy family life. A very special day. A new home.

Cont



You are currently experiencing an opportunity to learn and grow. It may seem like a challenge, but the key to success is to stand up for what you know is right. Stay positive in your interactions with others, and a peaceful resolution will be found. Make a personal choice to avoid drama created by those around you. It doesn't serve you, and you don't have to be a part of it! If you are feeling at odds with yourself, then gift yourself a little peaceful, quiet time.

If you find yourself being challenged, stand back and take a moment to review the situation objectively. Is this really a problem with another person, or are you experiencing a reflection of your own inner struggles? Perhaps the Universe is providing you with an opportunity to be freed of old personal conflicts that are holding you back! ANGEL MESSAGE: We understand the emotions that can be generated when you're feeling challenged by circumstances or other people. Remember, we can help ease the tensions by talking to the guardian angels of anyone you are experiencing conflict with. We want to help.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Worrying too much about the details. Athletic events. Competing goals. Ambitious people. Stress caused by differing opinions.



Victory! Success! This is your day in the sun. Whatever goal you've had your eye on is going to work out beautifully. There is no doubt that you will be able to realize your dreams (if you haven't already done so). This is a card of good fortune, optimism, and anticipation of a job well done!

If you've been praying for someone to come and *help* you solve your problems, then your prayers are about to be answered. This helper may not do all the work for you but will be able to point you in a direction that will dramatically lighten your load.

ANGEL MESSAGE: As your guardian angels, we always celebrate your success with glee! We also have "friends in high places," so if you are looking for someone to help you, all you have to do is ask and we'll make angelic introductions. ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Congratulations. Receiving an award or promotion. Wise choices. A sure thing. Good news. Victory that comes with hard work.

0-0

95



There are times when it is crucial to take a stand. It could be that you are being called to be true to yourself and to be an advocate for your principles. You will know in your heart if this is one of those times or if this is a battle that simply isn't worth fighting. Listen to your guidance and ask your angels for courage and fortitude. Don't let your fears get between you and doing what you know is right!

It's possible that you might have yielded to other people's needs and desires so much that you have given away your personal power. Now is the time to take it back! Say yes to other people's requests when it feels right to you. Say no when your heart tells you that they're asking too much. ANGEL MESSAGE: We as guardian angels can be true warriors in defense of your spiritual truth when the occasion arises. If you need us to help you stand your ground, you have but to ask. However, the truth is, you already have the courage within you. All we're doing is helping you to find it.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Strength in adversity. Never giving up! Saying no when you should. Having the courage of your convictions. Knowing that you're right. Great personal character.

0-0



You have too many things going on! It may seem as though you're trying to juggle dozens of tasks at once. If your life has felt as though it was moving in slow motion, that is definitely about to change. While multitasking like this can sometimes seem stressful, this card represents the *good* kind of stress. Your to-do list is filled to the brim with things that you *want* to do. The real challenge is choosing which to do next!

This card also indicates events that unfold very quickly. Often this is due to an unexpected message or new information that you hadn't anticipated. At this time it's very important to communicate accurately and precisely with those around you. ANGEL MESSAGE: Take a deep breath! We know you are feeling anxiety in the face of all the opportunities before you. But when you're tempted to give in to overwhelm, remind yourself that you're actually very blessed. Focus on the dreams coming true and ask for our assistance. Remember . . . we guardian angels are amazing multitaskers!

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Moving boldly and swiftly forward. Needing to get organized. Travel by air. Sudden flashes of inspiration.

00


You have created many wonderful and amazing things. There are relationships you treasure and accomplishments that you are proud of, as well as the place you call home. It's only natural to want to protect them. Rest assured that you are always being lovingly watched over by your guardian angels. If you have any worries, you can also ask Archangel Michael for protection. You are completely safe!

This card can also indicate causes that mean a great deal to you. Examples include animal activism, charities that protect children or battered spouses, environmentalism, and curing major diseases—anything that you feel passionate about. If you feel strongly about a cause, take it as a clue from the angels directing you to where you should lend your energy. ANGEL MESSAGE: If you feel unsafe, as though someone or something you love is in danger, call upon us. We are here night and day to help you stand guard against all threats.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Getting prepared. Successfully recovering from an illness. Physical and emotional strength. Being persistent.



You are working too hard! It's very important to balance your career with your personal life. Ask for help from those around you so that all the responsibility isn't on your shoulders. You are overextended and under a great deal of pressure. It's time to lighten the load you are carrying and spend more time taking care of *you*!

It's possible you're trying too hard to please others. Remember that you must love yourself before you can fully love someone else. Release any emotional burdens you're bearing by forgiving yourself and others.

ANGEL MESSAGE: We can help you to carry any burden, as well as to get assistance from other human souls. If you need emotional healing, let us comfort you through whatever is causing your heart to ache. We are here for you. ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Darkness before the dawn. Never saying no. All work and no play. Stress-related illnesses.

0-0



SITUATIONS: Something new and exciting has caught your fancy. Now it's all you can think about. Your passions are fired up, and you can't wait to learn all there is to know about this topic! New information regarding your favorite project or subject has just come to your attention. You want to take action, but you're a little unsure if you're ready. Have no fear—you're totally ready to go, and you shouldn't delay a single day.

PEOPLE: Someone who has no end to their creativity and enthusiasm. A person who loves to study new things, especially of an artistic or athletic nature. Someone for whom the world is so full of amazing things that it may be difficult for them to stay focused. Happy to be alive. Fascinated by life. Extremely talented. Game to try everything, although sometimes lacking in selfconfidence. Easily distracted. ANGEL MESSAGE: We understand that you're lacking in self-confidence right now. Please trust that we are here to help you. You have all the knowledge and talent you need to take this next step. Believe in yourself, knowing that we believe in you too.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Career-related information or messages. Wanting to try something new. Creative writing.

Jungent



SITUATIONS: So much to do! You're excited about all there is to accomplish, and you just want to get started. First, though, you'll want to make a really solid plan. After all, if something is worth doing, it's worth doing well. And yes, you'll need to move quickly but you may as well have fun while you're at it! Follow your instincts, and stay confident.

PEOPLE: A very self-assured person who is always prepared to rush in and save the day. Someone immensely capable who can handle multiple tasks at the same time. Enthusiastic about challenging assignments. Confident in their ability to do anything. Prone to restlessness but ready with a wink and a smile. ANGEL MESSAGE: You are the perfect person to take on this situation. We are here to assist you. We want you to include us (we just doubt you'll need our help!).

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Quick changes. Enthusiastic action. An exciting relationship. Loyal and helpful friends.



SITUATIONS: Parent, spouse, executive, environmentalist, and yoga teacher . . . that may perfectly match your life, or perhaps you wear different, but equally diverse, hats. The important point is that you can do anything once your heart and mind are engaged. Others are naturally drawn to your beautiful and happy nature. Your life may be challenging, but you are very aware that you are making a difference in the world, and it feels good to you!

PEOPLE: A loving, intelligent, and fun friend you can trust. A person with great inner and outer beauty who handles difficult situations with grace and consciously takes care of themself and others. A person who stands behind their beliefs and walks their talk.

ANGEL MESSAGE: People admire you and would love to be of assistance. Let them! Or perhaps it's you who is being called to help others. If so, shine your light so that those in need can follow your example.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A devoted parent. Wise counsel you should follow. The opportunity to be a leader. A balanced career and home life.



SITUATIONS: You have the gift of leadership, and it's time for you to step forward! It's your moment in the sun, and people are ready to listen to your words of wisdom. It's true that you love the spotlight, but what makes you special is that you use it to change the world. While in your career you are just naturally talented at guiding others, you also deeply care about your family and friends and will always take time to see to their needs.

PEOPLE: A charismatic and heartcentered person who wants to make a difference. Someone who loves a challenge both at work and at home. A loving and concerned member of the family. An inspiring speaker with an almost theatrical flair. A generous patron of the arts. ANGEL MESSAGE: You aren't always aware of how much people look up to you. Your charm and natural leadership skills empower you to make a difference in the lives of others and in the world. Go be a change maker!

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Donating money or time to a cherished cause. Entrepreneurial opportunities. Innovative ideas.





The suit of Water is all about our feelings. Being human is a very rich, multifaceted experience. We discover the first blush of love and we get engaged. We have children, buy homes, and create family ties. The impact of those families, whether birth families or ones we choose for ourselves, is a very powerful part of our lives. However, this suit is about not just our emotional feelings but also our intuitive ones. Our innate abilities and spiritual experiences are also presented in this part of the Minor Arcana.

Guardian angels are pure, unconditional love, making this suit one that they particularly resonate with. One of the most powerful ways that the guardian angels reach out to us is through our feelings. They are highly invested in our emotional growth and health and can be very helpful in the healing of old emotional wounds. Guardian angels are also connected to our intuitive gifts—especially since those very gifts are how we communicate with them. If you're looking to develop your psychic skills, the guardian angels are happy to be your mentors in the Heavenly realm while also helping you to find human mentors on Earth.



ACE of WATER

Something new is stirring in your heart! It may be a budding relationship that has your heart fluttering, or it could be a current partnership that is experiencing a reawakening. If there is no one in your life at the moment, then you can anticipate the arrival of someone very soon. You might even fall in love! This card heralds the beginning of very poignant emotional experiences. Say yes to them!

This card can also indicate new and uplifting intuitive experiences. Information from your angels may be increasing in accuracy and frequency. Usually, these messages are about emotional situations occurring in your life right now. ANGEL MESSAGE: To see love come into your life—whether it's romance or just a very intimate friendship—brings us so much joy. Our hearts soar knowing that your own will also be filled with happiness. If you are scared because of past emotional wounds, know that we are here to help heal that.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: First love. Flirting. Developing a crush on someone. Opening your heart to others. Spiritual epiphanies.

0-0



A relationship moves into a deeper, more meaningful phase. It may be romantic, or it could be a very close friendship. Feelings continue to grow, and the connection between those involved expands. This is a very powerful, spiritual connection. Wounds at this time will heal, and you should continue to pursue the relationship.

Mutual respect and understanding are present. Gifts may be exchanged, or longterm professional partnerships may be formed. Misunderstandings will be resolved. Displays of great kindness and compassion are likely.

ANGEL MESSAGE: Relationships can heal. We see it happen all the time. This is not the time to give up on love or that special friendship. We will help guide you through the process. All will be well! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Falling in love. Very close friendships. The end of conflict. An unexpected gift. A powerful connection.



THREE of WATER

There is wonderful news of an emotional nature! Someone may be getting married, a pregnancy may have just been announced, or a child has been born. Perhaps someone has graduated from school or received a promotion. Whatever the occasion, there is great cause for celebration and joy! Share your feelings of love in joyful acknowledgment of this happy news.

This card can also indicate a need to spend more time with your friends or other groups of like-minded people. Expand your social circle or reach out to community organizations who share your interests and beliefs. Open your heart for others to come into your life, and they will seek you out! ANGEL MESSAGE: When you receive uplifting news, our hearts are also lifted! We dance around you and sing joyful music in gratitude. When you are especially happy (or sad), our connection with you is particularly powerful. Take a moment now to notice any messages we're sending you!

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Abundance. Happy endings. Heartwarming hospitality. Parties or social engagements. Bridal showers or weddings. Family reunions.



FOUR of WATER

There are very positive forces around you just waiting to help! Awaken to the endless possibilities that await you. Don't take any of the wonderful things in your life for granted. Instead, be grateful for them and then look around to see what other amazing opportunities the angels have in store for you!

Daydreaming and going within can be healthy ways to get clarity on who you are and what you want from life. These methods may be used for contemplation. However, once you have the insights these reveries deliver, remember to take focused action so that you don't miss out on the joy of living out your dreams! ANGEL MESSAGE: When you ask for our assistance each morning, we spend part of our time opening your eyes to opportunities or issues needing your attention. That way, you stand the greatest chance of success and happiness on any given day. We are grateful for the opportunity to do this loving service for you.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Needing to get motivated. Not seeing what is being offered to you. Time to focus on the positive. Reflection and meditation. Being too introverted.



FIVE of WATER

One of the most important spiritual tenets is self-forgiveness. As humans, we make mistakes from time to time. Focusing overly much on those errors doesn't serve us but rather only holds us back. When things don't go the way we intended, it is very important to forgive, forget, and then look for the new opportunity that always presents itself when our original path is blocked.

Grieving a loss is a normal and healthy part of life, but you do not have to do it alone. There are angels around you in both spiritual and human form who can help you heal. Embrace their loving energy so that you can move forward through recovery and back onto the path of joy. ANGEL MESSAGE: You are never, ever alone. When your sadness (or happiness) is particularly intense, our connection to you is all the more powerful. No matter what you feel you may have done wrong, you are still a child of the Divine. You are deserving of forgiveness and healing.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Accepting and forgiving mistakes. Knowing when to ask for help. A tendency toward the dramatic. A change in focus. Misplaced items.



SIX of WATER

Fond memories of family, friends, relationships, and simpler times may elicit a yearning for "the way things used to be." It's wonderful to look back and revisit happy recollections, but be sure not to idealize the years gone by. Recall the past clearly and accurately so that you can also enjoy the present for its own unique and magical place in your life. Old friends, romantic partners, or acquaintances may suddenly resurface.

This card may also indicate issues surrounding children or childhood. Take time to focus on the children in your life. Get in touch with your own inner child and allow yourself to indulge in simple play. This may be a good time to resolve old baggage or emotional wounds involving parents, school years, or growing up. ANGEL MESSAGE: Sometimes looking backward can point the way forward. It can remind you of old dreams you'd like to revive or parts of yourself you'd like to reclaim. Other times, it can be an anchor that keeps you from sailing into unfamiliar waters and pursuing new horizons. We are always happy to help you rekindle old passions or let go of things that no longer serve you. All you have to do is ask.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Anniversaries. Loving-kindness. Being innocent of wrongdoing. Rekindling an old romance. An instant connection with a new friend.



SEVEN of WATER

Sometimes it can be very difficult to make a choice. We may have multiple options that appeal to us, or perhaps we don't like any of the possibilities. Listen to your intuition. Are you taking the necessary time to choose wisely, or have you fallen into procrastination?

If your guidance tells you that you are stalling, then move forward! Your body uses feelings as a way to guide you in making a correct decision. Consult your internal compass to know how and when to proceed. If you are still uncertain, ask your guardian angels for a sign. ANGEL MESSAGE: We love sending you signs! However, it's still important for you to listen to your own guidance. Are you feeling challenged to make a choice because of other people's wishes? Is there truly no option that makes your heart sing more than the others? If you listen closely, we think you'll realize that deep down you know the right choice.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Time to get focused. The need to release unhealthy choices. Unproductive daydreaming. Being unrealistic.



EIGHT of WATER

You are meant to feel great happiness and fulfillment! You have been sensing that there is more to life than what you are experiencing, and you are ready to go find the missing pieces. As you have grown emotionally and spiritually, that which previously kept your attention has lost its appeal. Now you are ready to take charge of your own life and move on to happier and more exciting experiences.

It is time to reclaim your own personal power. The decision to make these changes is your own and not one forced upon you by fate or chance. Your angels are proud of you for stepping up and doing what you know is right for you! ANGEL MESSAGE: We know that this may seem like a scary moment in your life. In your heart you probably know your choice is the absolute right one, but you still have apprehensions. Don't worry. You are not on this path alone. We are with you, and we are excited for your future. Let's go!

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Spiritual growth. Pursuing your life purpose. Changing careers. Leaving home. Letting go of the past.





NINE of WATER

This is the card of dreams realized and wishes come true! All that you have been hoping for is headed your way. Your concerns or fears surrounding the issue you asked about are unnecessary and soon will fade away. There is no more need to worry. Everything is going to work out beautifully.

This is a magical moment in your life! Things will either work out the way you had planned, or they will develop into something even better. Focus on feelings of joy and contentment during this abundant time.

ANGEL MESSAGE: The magic is going to happen. That's all you really need to know. Be in a space of gratitude and let yourself feel the joy of anticipation! ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Happiness. Satisfaction with life. Pride in your accomplishments. Financial abundance. Time to have some fun!

0-0



TEN of WATER

This card indicates a time of great happiness and emotional fulfillment in your life. You may be experiencing this contentment now, or it may be on the horizon. It comes with a sense of family harmony among the people you share your life with. Relationships with children become balanced, peaceful, and a source of pride and joy. You may not have it all, but you most definitely have one another, and that makes what you do *not* have seem less important.

Drawing this card means you will benefit from understanding that relationships require effort, forgiveness, understanding, kindness, and love from all parties involved. Everyone must work together, but the rewards are priceless! ANGEL MESSAGE: We are surrounding you and your family (of birth or chosen) with love. We are joining with the guardian angels of those you care about to create a bubble of peace around everyone. Contentment is a rare and beautiful emotion. Wrap yourself up in it.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Very fulfilling, long-lasting relationships. Feeling safe and protected. Bountiful blessings. Groups of people who love and look out for one another. Unconditional love.





PAGE of WATER

SITUATIONS: This is the beginning of an emotional experience that could grow into something deeper. You may receive a letter, a call, or a text or e-mail conveying feelings that you hadn't realized were developing. A friend or colleague may provide you with information that generates an emotional reaction in you. It's safe to let your feelings show! Sparks of intuition give you insight into a situation you wouldn't otherwise have.

PEOPLE: A very gentle and loving person who has only the kindest of intentions. Someone who wants to open their heart to others but feels shy or uncertain about doing so. An avid daydreamer. An intuitive youth. An inexperienced romantic. An artistic and sensitive individual. ANGEL MESSAGE: We know that human emotions can be scary. You may want to trust a person or embrace a change without knowing if that's safe. We are here with you always. Invite us to join you in this new experience, and we will help you find the courage to move forward.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Invitations to events. Giving or receiving an apology. Revelatory sleeping dreams.




KNIGHT of WATER

SITUATIONS: Romance blooms and love grows. Flowers are delivered unexpectedly, followed by whispered phone conversations in the evenings that go on for hours and hours. It's all the process of falling in love! Your heart soars, and you smile more than you usually do. You even remember how to blush! The Knight of Water charges in with grace and poetry and knowing eyes, and suddenly nothing is the same. That's why it's important to pay close attention. The situation may completely throw you off balance. Is this really true love or just an emotionally powerful fling? Enjoy the magic of this experience but also remain cautious to heed any warning signs that present themselves. This may be a new person in your life or someone you've known or been with for a long time for whom the romantic flame has been rekindled

PEOPLE: A person who makes your heart flutter. Someone who is dreamily emotional and romantic. A soul mate. An idealist about romance. An artist at heart who can be a bit dramatic. Someone who is in love with the idea of love.

ANGEL MESSAGE: Wow! We can hear the pitter-patter of your heart and sense the euphoria running through your veins! We are happy you are getting to have this experience, but we suggest you stay grounded. This is a wonderful feeling, but perhaps you should move a little slower?

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Marriage proposals and weddings. Artistic endeavors or events. Past-life connections. Opening your heart to a situation. Staying grounded during an emotional experience. A fickle lover.

C~0



QUEEN of WATER

SITUATIONS: You are experiencing a calling to live a life immersed in the waters of emotion and intuition. You have a true desire to help others and are blessed with a great depth of feeling that comes naturally. Compassion flows from Divine Spirit into your heart. It seems as though you are immediately aware of what others are feeling and what their hearts need. Family and friends are cherished, but even strangers feel your love radiating out to heal the world. Intuitive abilities are very strong.

PEOPLE: A person whose loving arms are always open. Someone sensitive and very empathetic, tenderhearted, and generous. Someone who always knows what to do and understands the problem before it's even spoken. A fairy godmother who can make you feel better just by being around. ANGEL MESSAGE: Your capacity for love and insight is amazing, but you often give too much. It's important for you to have strong personal boundaries and to take care of yourself with the same dedication that you do others. If you feel overwhelmed or exhausted, call upon us to help replenish your strength.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A spiritual teacher. An emotional counselor. The need for better boundaries. A love of hearth and home. A very trustworthy friend.

00



KING of WATER

SITUATIONS: This experience will be handled with emotional maturity and a trustworthy heart. The parties involved have the best interests of everyone in mind. There is a desire to resolve any challenges in a kind and compassionate way. If your heart is moved to support a particular cause or charity, do so with passionate determination. Accept advice given in a kind and caring manner as being "good as gold."

PEOPLE: A courteous, honorable person who has great integrity when it comes to matters of the heart. A humanitarian who cares about people and animals and can be very vocal about it. An upstanding member of the community, acquainted with reputable people in high places. A firm but loving parent. ANGEL MESSAGE: It is safe to trust now. The situation is as it appears, and the other people involved have great integrity. You can set fear and worry aside and experience your positive emotions fully.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A love of art, music, or dance. A fair mediator. Listening carefully to others. A diplomatic approach to challenges.

C~0





This suit represents our perceptions, the ways in which we manage our personal truths and integrity, concerns about justice and fairness, and the impact of the Law of Attraction in our lives. Our minds are powerful tools that can work either for us or against us depending on whether we choose an optimistic and hopeful approach or allow ourselves to fall into pessimism and fear. The vast majority of worry is unnecessary, so the Suit of Air tries to point out to us when we have accidentally allowed our perceptions and mental chatter to go awry. These cards also refer to the ways in which we communicate with others. They ask us to be kind with our words and to remember to speak our truths in a way we would like to hear others speak theirs.

Our guardian angels can be of immense assistance when it comes to calming our fears and transforming negative thoughts. They can bring us comfort and hope with their messages and introduce optimistic angelic signs into our awareness to uplift our spirits. They can guide us to a place of faith that everything will be all right even when we feel challenged.





ACE of AIR

On your mark . . . get set . . . *go*! You're off to a fabulous start on a fresh new intellectual challenge. The prospects are very exciting, and you're quite sure you have it all figured out. And you probably do. However, this card can indicate the need to make a few course corrections as you go along. Don't let that dampen your enthusiasm or keep you from moving forward. Consider any unanticipated changes to your plans to be your guardian angels' way of helping you make everything all the more perfect!

Communication is very important in any endeavor. Be sure you communicate clearly and in great detail with those you're working with. Misunderstandings or hurt feelings should be dealt with right away in a kind and compassionate manner. ANGEL MESSAGE: Calm down. The little bumps in the road you're encountering are just meant to help you perfect your plan. Rather than let them annoy you, give thanks for them. They're truly there for your benefit, and you'll be glad for your gains in the end.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Brilliant new ideas. Determination. Mental health. Improving a concept or project. Taking an exam.

Samo



Two of Air

It's time to make a decision. Procrastination is seriously hindering your progress. You may feel a lack of confidence in your decision-making, or you may be stalling because you'd rather someone else make this decision for you. It's possible you're thinking about the situation too much, or perhaps you're pretending it doesn't exist at all. You have unlimited angels available at your call if only you will ask for their guidance. Listen to your inner voice. Ask your guardian angels for a sign. Deep down, you know what to do. It's just a matter of gathering your willpower and taking action!

This is not merely an intellectual decision but also a choice that requires input from your heart. If you are suppressing your emotions, request that your guardian angels assist you in getting in touch with your feelings or ask a dear friend to help you sort them out. ANGEL MESSAGE: So very often we see you trapped by your own mind when trying to make a decision because you're too focused on what others would like you to choose rather than what your heart truly wants. Choose what will make you happy, and the rest will work itself out.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Not moving forward. Emotions in conflict with the mind. Pretending not to care. Not seeing what really matters.

00



THREE of AIR

Loving angels surround you now. They offer healing to all who request it. The sadness you feel will fade away with time, and all that will remain is a stronger, more spiritually evolved you. There is no need to be alone. Seek out loved ones to spend time with. Ask your angels to help you find groups or organizations full of compassionate people who will embrace you with open arms. Give yourself time to heal while also reaching out to embrace the joys of life.

Always look for the positive in any challenge. Ask your guardian angels to help you see the good that came from adversity. You are an amazing person, created by diverse experiences. The blending of these chapters of your life to form your character makes you one of the Divine's beautiful and powerful children. ANGEL MESSAGE: We understand. We love you so very much. During this time, please, please remember to ask for our help so that we can do everything possible to comfort you and make our presence felt by you.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Giving comfort to a friend in need. Experiencing a loss. Forgiving oneself and others. Letting go of the past so as to embrace the future. Heart ailments.

0-0



Four of Air

The answers you seek are within your heart, not out in the world. Attempting to maneuver your way through this situation is probably not the path to success. Meditation and quiet reflection will make everything clear to you. Take time to withdraw from your concerns and ask your guardian angels to present you with the perfect solution. If you find yourself immersed in a melodrama created by others, ask for protection from the angels and then remove yourself from the situation.

You need a vacation! Take a break even if it's only a few days. Get some additional rest. Spend time in nature. Don't rush back to daily life if you've been ill. ANGEL MESSAGE: Take a moment to visualize sitting with us face-to-face, brainstorming a perfect solution to your challenges. Keep pen and paper nearby so that you can write it down. Be prepared for additional messages to come in throughout your day.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Taking it easy. Making time for your spirituality. Answered prayers. Getting away from it all. Needing more sleep.

00



The path you were on seemed like the right one, but now you've run into a challenge. It doesn't look as though you'll be able to continue without making some significant changes. Trust that the difficulties you are experiencing with your plans are simply signs from the angels that there's a much better direction for you—one that will eventually make you much happier! They want you to see a larger and more Divinely guided road map for your life.

Negative people can be very draining. The conflict they create makes it difficult to focus on your life purpose and be happy in life. Make thoughtful choices about whom you spend time with. Are your relationships balanced, or are you doing all the giving? ANGEL MESSAGE: First of all, breathe! Perhaps your planning wasn't perfect. Maybe you didn't make all the right choices. It's all right, because guess what? You learned a lot, and it will all work out in the end. Now let's just work together to turn those lemons into lemonade!

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Better available options. Losing sight of the goal. Difficult people. A joyless victory.

00



SIX of AIR

The Universe heard your prayers, and now things will get much better! It may have been a long and difficult journey, but you've glimpsed your destination. Brighter, happier days are ahead. The stress in your life will start to fade away, allowing you to set your sights on the future. The storm is over, and sunnier skies are on the horizon.

This card can also indicate travel, especially over water. If you are interested in moving or relocating, then the signs look very positive. Or perhaps your "journey" is more of a spiritual one, leading you to amazing new revelations!

ANGEL MESSAGE: Now you can move on! The worst is over, and what lies ahead will come as a welcome relief. Keep your eyes on the future and let go of the past. Embrace every positive thing that happens now, no matter how small.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Peace after challenging times. The return of hope. Slowly moving forward. Gaining a more positive viewpoint. Starting a new life.





SEVEN of AIR

Your guardian angels are attempting to point out to you that things may not be as they appear right now. It could be that someone's motives are questionable. Perhaps you are fooling yourself into believing your own intentions are in integrity when subconsciously they're not. Rather than being fearful of this message, consider it a kindness from Source. You are being given a heads-up to reevaluate the situation and make changes in your own behavior or how you react to those around you. Either way, the truth will be revealed and suddenly everything will make sense. You may have valuable information for another person who could desperately use the assistance.

You or someone you know may be feeling the need for a little time alone. Peaceful solitude can bring many hidden treasures and talents to light. ANGEL MESSAGE: This is not a time for fear. It is a time for intense awareness of what is going on around you and within you. Focus your mental energy on your powers of observation rather than getting caught up in your emotions. We can help point out the important issues for you if you ask us to.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A time to reevaluate priorities. Making choices carefully. Embracing the truth. Misunderstanding someone's motivations. Something being taken from you. Losing your freedom.

6-0



EIGHT of AIR

You can always choose freedom. The situation you are in most likely makes you feel trapped, but the truth is that there is always another path, a way to move toward joy. Ask your angels for the gift of self-confidence. Reach within and tap your own inner strength and know that there is nothing you cannot do if only you believe in yourself.

Refuse to be stuck in a life that doesn't make you happy. Don't wait for someone to come to the rescue, when *you* can free yourself. Make a promise to yourself that you will take one small step every day toward the future you desire . . . and then get going!

ANGEL MESSAGE: Dear child, you have forgotten the power of your own free will. You are never trapped except by your own thoughts or perceptions. There is always another way, if you believe.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Feeling trapped by circumstances. Not believing in yourself. The illusion of being stuck. Being held back by your own perceptions.





There is no reason to worry! Your misplaced focus upon your fears and feelings of uncertainty is leading you to expect the worst. It's time to change your thoughts into something more positive and uplifting. Anticipate only your highest hopes and dreams, and the Divine Law of Attraction will bring them to you.

Please don't be so hard on yourself! Nothing is to be gained by reliving the past over and over. Release what was, and instead reach out with loving arms to what is and what can be. ANGEL MESSAGE: Ask, and we will help calm your fears. Guilt and regret about the past are useless. Let us help you quiet your mind so that you can enjoy peaceful nights of restful sleep.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Sleepless nights. The need for optimism. Torturing yourself needlessly. Useless guilt. Taking on more than is necessary.

6-0



Your difficulties are now over! Challenges move into the past so that you can focus on what's next. This card often comes with a sense of relief and may even have been expected for some time.

This is a card of quick goodbyes mixed with the joy of finally getting to move on. If you are carrying any baggage from the past, now is the time to hand it over to your angels.

ANGEL MESSAGE: We understand that things feel a little dramatic right now. Close your eyes and envision yourself wrapped in our wings. Take a few deep breaths and try to step away from the situation emotionally. It's time to let go of "what has been" so that you can start to create a beautiful new life of "what will be." ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Remembering the past as worse than it was. Getting free of an addiction or codependent relationship. Learning to laugh at your problems.

0-0



PAGE of AIR

SITUATIONS: There is so much to learn! Expect great excitement to arise about a new topic or intellectual project. Information pours in from television, the Web, and social media, making it difficult to take it all in! As you gather all this new knowledge, be sure to stay organized and mindful. The data may be filling up your head, but if you forget to speak from the heart, it may offend others. The message may be the most important thing, but the way it is delivered also matters. You may receive information that necessitates changes to your plans.

PEOPLE: Someone who is always excited about learning and sharing knowledge. A person who is very mentally active and able to analyze a situation quickly and accurately. Someone with a great enthusiasm for the truth but for whom it may be tempered by a lack of experience in diplomacy. Someone who has great discretion and is highly organized. ANGEL MESSAGE: Be careful of your words, dear one. Make sure that you speak from kindness, not frustration. If others relay messages to you in an unkind way, try to get past the emotion and listen to understand if the information is worth considering.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Reviewing documents carefully. Listening to all points of view. Honest and constructive feedback.





KNIGHT of AIR

SITUATIONS: Life is going to be moving a lot faster! Events that may have seemed to be on hold now suddenly come into focus and require your attention. There may be a little bit of stress as you adapt to the new timelines, but it will feel better than the previous lack of action. No more sitting around and waiting; it's time to get things done! Look for creative solutions to challenges, and you'll see excellent results. Although you do need to move quickly, don't forget to review the details carefully.

PEOPLE: An extremely capable person with a quick mind and a determined will. Someone who can swoop in, review a situation, and almost instantly know just what to do, always confident of success. A well-intentioned, courageous, idealistic, and knowledgeable individual.

ANGEL MESSAGE: We understand that the pace seems very fast, but try to take a moment to think things through. Your ability to adapt to quickly changing situations is admirable; however, it never hurts to pause and make sure you have all the facts before you act.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A sudden frenzy of activity. Thinking outside the box. Defending what you believe.



SITUATIONS: Out with the old, and in with the new! It's time to clean up all aspects of your life that no longer serve your Divine purpose. If your space is cluttered and disorganized, tidy it up! If your home is full of things you no longer use, have a yard sale or donate them to a reputable charitable organization. If there are people around you who only take and don't give back or are creating unnecessary drama in your world, it may be time to release them from your life. Mixing humor with wisdom can help solve any problem in a way that everyone can approve of.

PEOPLE: Someone who has great wisdom accumulated from diverse life experiences. A person who has infinite patience and a wonderful sense of humor. A successful individual without an ounce of pretension. A very insightful and caring friend. A person with a sometimes stoic or professional demeanor that hides a warm and loving heart.

ANGEL MESSAGE: Our advice? Laugh. That's right! Find the humor in any situation and laugh it off. You're experienced, wise, and capable—there simply isn't anything you can't do. So don't let challenging situations or negative people get to you. (You know more than they do, anyway.)

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Unmarried individuals. A single parent. Asserting your independence. Being a perfectionist.

0-0



KING of AIR

SITUATIONS: You're being called to be a spokesperson for the cause closest to your heart. You have important things to say, and people need to hear them! Don't worry, as your angels will give you the perfect words to use in any situation if you ask them for help. Time has given you the experiences and expertise to be a teacher and mentor to those around you. You have all the right words, so speak up!

PEOPLE: Someone experienced who can provide advice that you can completely trust. A seasoned professional with a no-nonsense attitude, shrewd ideas, and a brilliant mind. A diplomatic and inspiring speaker worthy of respect. A natural-born leader who is fair and impartial but can be emotionally unavailable. ANGEL MESSAGE: Many appreciate your wisdom, and your intellect has gotten you far. However, remember that sometimes people are coming from an emotional view of the facts. If you can put a little heart into your scholarly advice, you'll be of even more assistance.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Standing up for what's right. Scientists or college professors. Being out of touch with your feelings. The government or the military.


The SUIT of EARTH



The other Minor Arcana suits tend to focus on passions, emotions, and thoughtsour inner experience. The suit of Earth deals with issues of the physical world and therefore things that are external to us. The cards' messages relate to material wealth, career and business, and other resources that may come into our lives. That being said, this suit also deals with the health of our bodies. In the suit of Water, there is much discussion surrounding our loved ones that arises from the realm of feelings and tender affection. The suit of Earth speaks about our families as well, but more from the standpoint of ancestry, financial security, and seeing to their education and safety. This suit also refers to the stewardship of plants, animals, the environment, and Mother Earth, along with our social interactions and responsibilities.

Our guardian angels are aware of issues regarding abundance, success, and personal fulfillment in our careers and our earthly needs. They are just as happy to assist us with concerns about prosperity as they are with our emotional health. Our angels are equally available to us, whether it's in our work life or in our thoughts and mental life. That's because our guardian angels understand fully the importance of balance in all areas of our human experience.



ACE of EARTH

This is the beginning of a wonderful new endeavor! A windfall of resources comes your way to help you get things off to a fantastic start. This is a good time to launch a venture, change careers, or even go into business for yourself! Be open to new acquaintances or even old friends who can introduce you to helpful people or provide insights regarding how to get things done successfully.

This card may refer to resources that are not limited to money but could also be gifts of time, wisdom, or material goods from others. Making sound, long-term investments is also indicated when this card is drawn. You may want to set aside money for the purchase of a home, further education, or retirement. ANGEL MESSAGE: This is wonderful news, and we are celebrating with you! Should you need someone to help you within the human realm, we are happy to connect you to the right people. If you need help with your willpower when it comes to following through on your financial goals, we can assist with that too.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A business document or contract. Good health. Focusing on results. Good luck, and hope for the future. Feeling very blessed.





Two of Earth

If you drew this card, you probably feel as if you are juggling too many priorities at once! That can be exciting and exhilarating, or it can seem as though life is seriously out of balance. If life seems challenging to you, try to bring a playful energy to your tasks. Take mini-breaks to laugh with a friend or do something that stimulates your inner child. Make sure that when you do stop working for the day, you get to rest and enjoy your downtime.

You may be feeling like you're really having to tighten your belt with respect to finances. If abundance issues are causing you stress, ask your guardian angels to provide you with new avenues to manifest the money you need. Make sure that your eyes are wide open to any opportunities that your angels send to you. Make choices about your career very carefully. ANGEL MESSAGE: We are concerned that you are trying to do too much right now and having no fun. Allow us to "warp" time for you to help you find the bandwidth to simultaneously enjoy life. We can also assist you by reducing your stress level so that the work doesn't seem so overwhelming.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Being adaptable to change. An excellent multitasker. Keeping your day job while pursuing your dream career after hours. Balancing your work and personal life. Living very frugally.

C~9



THREE of EARTH

This is the card of great skill, talent, and craftsmanship! Within you is the ability to create amazing works if only you follow your passions and let your heart lead you. Do what you love! Learn everything there is to know on the topic. Take seminars, get training from a wonderful mentor, or complete a degree from a university or trade school. The key point here is that you do something that makes you happy.

It can be very emotionally rewarding to work with others. Teamwork and commitment to a project you believe in bring the recognition and compensation you are seeking. ANGEL MESSAGE: Allow us to help you secure work in the creative field that makes your heart sing! Think of us as your "angelic agents" as we bring your beautiful talents to the notice of the world.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Financial rewards for doing what you love. Making a satisfying living in a creative profession. Confidence in your talent. Teaching others a skill. Winning an award for your work.





Four of Earth

This card asks you to pause and reflect on your relationship with money. Are you spending it too freely? Or are you possibly tucking it away a bit too frugally when it might be used to bring you joy? It's important to look at your financial health in a balanced way—to prepare for the future but not to the extent of not living life to its fullest in the here and now. This is true whether the resources we are speaking of are monetary, energetic, or emotional. So you can also ask yourself: *Am I giving of myself too freely, or am I holding back too much*?

It's very important to be charitable to worthy organizations as well as individuals in need. Consider volunteering your time or money to causes that you feel strongly about. ANGEL MESSAGE: This is a message to balance the ways in which you spend money and energy. If your finances are in disarray, let us help you get them under control. If you are giving too much of your emotional energy to other people—or, alternatively, being too withdrawn—we can help bring your life into balance that way as well.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Wise investing. Worrying about money. Good business judgment. Being too controlling. Hard work that pays off.

0-0



FIVE of EARTH

You needn't go through your current challenges all by yourself. There are times when we all need a little help, and Source wants us to feel safe asking for it. You may feel that something is lacking in your life financial, romantic, or otherwise. Your guardian angels are inviting you to "come in from the rain." Accept their help and the assistance of human friends and family who are also surrounding you. This card is an indicator that you feel very challenged right now, but it is also evidence that there are sources of compassion nearby who could really make a difference.

Don't lose faith! These challenges are temporary, and things will improve very soon. Review your situation and plan the next step toward the life you desire. Keep your thoughts positive and focus on the things you have to be grateful for. If you're considering becoming self-employed, wait a little longer before enacting your plan.

ANGEL MESSAGE: We understand that you are experiencing a sense of scarcity in your life in one area or another. We are reaching out to take you into our arms and assure you that this setback will not last. By helping you change your perceptions on this topic, we are also helping you access the Divine Law of Attraction and bring in the abundance you feel is missing.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Asking for what you need. The importance of loving yourself. Feeling alone. Financial worries. Health challenges.





SIX of EARTH

Source opens its loving arms and out flows the abundance of the Universe! You are blessed daily with the gifts of Mother Earth. When this card is drawn, a gift is on its way to you! It's likely you are not expecting this loving act of generosity. Accept it with humility and thankfulness knowing that opportunities will come around in the future for you to give to others in return.

Your gift may come in the form of sudden good fortune or a dream materializing. You may experience a promotion, a job offer, or other career-related opportunities. ANGEL MESSAGE: You are so very, very loved by the Divine! It's only natural that from time to time you would be showered with unexpected gifts. Embrace these moments with deep gratitude! The more you connect to these feelings of happiness and good fortune, the more blessings the Divine will surprise you with.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: The joy of giving and receiving. Charitable donations. Generous employers. Unexpected money. Paying it forward.





SEVEN of EARTH

Have patience. A time of harvest is coming, but it will be a while before the plants you have seeded bear fruit. Sometimes dreams grow slowly. It may seem to you as though little is happening, but beneath the surface great roots are forming and expanding. There will be rewards for your hard work!

In the meantime, take a moment to review your progress and decide what your next steps will be. When your time of prosperity arrives, you'll need to be ready to move forward! ANGEL MESSAGE: We can't help but laugh at the human dislike of the concept of patience. It comes from your true nature as a child of the Divine, used to things just magically manifesting instantly in Heaven. We can help you to find the patience you need when you are having a human experience (even if we giggle a little bit while we're doing it).

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Slow but steady movement. The opportunity for a little time off. Reviewing your options. Persistence that pays dividends.

0~0



EIGHT of EARTH

This is a time of learning and honing your skills. Study topics that are near to your heart or advance your career. You may be called to take classes at a local college, attend a seminar, or learn spiritual skills that allow you to help heal others. Important life choices require you to do additional research before making a decision.

Take pride in your work! Don't hesitate to take extra time to complete a project if doing so will bring the quality to the highest level possible. ANGEL MESSAGE: You are in a physical body having a human experience so that you can learn. You may not be aware of it right now, but you exist to learn! You dearly love incorporating new wisdom into your soul. Just make sure to study things that send thrills through you, as those are the experiences you are on Earth to embody.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Successfully changing jobs. Self-improvement. Dedication to your craft. Focusing on the details.

00



NINE of EARTH

Your hard work and dedication to your dreams have brought you to a stage where you can enjoy quiet moments of reflection, peace, and leisure. You are encouraged to gift yourself with little luxuries (after all, you earned it!). Take some time to just be in contented solitude. You've accomplished so very much. Relax and ponder what would make you happy to focus on next. This is a good time to consider becoming self-employed doing something that you love.

This card indicates financial security, feeling joyfully independent, and the inner satisfaction that comes from being a success while also being a good person. Bravo! ANGEL MESSAGE: You deserve peace. You deserve the rewards that come with the fruits of your labor. The pride you feel for your accomplishments is earned and should be indulged.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: A renewed interest in spiritual growth. Having absolute confidence in yourself. An appreciation of luxury and refinement. Getting away from it all.





TEN of EARTH

This card is about having a joyful and contented home life! Great respect and mutual trust develop within your family, and your needs are taken care of. There is financial security and a sense that "we are all in this together." You have provided your beloved family members with the kind of quiet grace that comes from knowing right from wrong, and you should be very proud!

There is a sense of completion, and you ought to feel very good about it. Your material wealth continues to grow. In time you may become restless and wish to pursue something new and exciting, but for now you're just going to prosper and enjoy! ANGEL MESSAGE: Look around you! The beautiful family (birth or chosen) who surrounds you is a testament to the hard work you have put forth but also of the kindness and generosity in your heart. If you feel that further prosperity is needed to care for those you love, ask us for assistance.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Family trees. Heirlooms. Birthrights. Happy endings. A sense of community. Wise investments.





PAGE of EARTH

SITUATIONS: Wonderful news is coming! You may receive an outstanding job offer, or perhaps you'll learn of your acceptance into an excellent school. Bonuses or awards for a job well done are possible. You're ready to do something more challenging and fulfilling. Tomorrow looks very bright, and you have every reason to hope for a prosperous future.

PEOPLE: Someone innocent and hopeful with a youthful, upbeat, optimistic personality. A person who knows what they want out of life and is ready to go for it! An extremely bright, studious individual who is receptive to learning new things. Someone fun to be around and occasionally mischievous.

ANGEL MESSAGE: We can tell you're a bit giddy about what is coming, and frankly, so are we! Embrace the future. If an opportunity presents itself, run with it or create your own new ways to shine. We're right here supporting you, and we can't wait to soar with you on angel wings.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Beginning something new and exciting. Taking classes or attending seminars. The end of time off. Being sympathetic to other points of view.

00



KNIGHT of EARTH

SITUATIONS: There's an awful lot to do. Better get organized first! Think through your plans and make notes. Ask for the counsel of others who have experience in this situation. Once you have it all planned, then roll up your sleeves and get to work! There is no procrastination allowed when the Knight of Earth comes into your reading. However, this card *does* always serve as a reminder that your guardian angels are standing by, waiting to help you!

PEOPLE: A very loving, kind, and loyal friend. Someone endlessly patient with a big heart and great sense of humor. A person who can accomplish amazing amounts of work in a short time and is able to take a stalled project and get it moving again. A supportive and completely trustworthy ally.

ANGEL MESSAGE: Hold on there, dear one! We know you're ready and raring to go, but there's the little matter of having a plan that needs to be addressed. This is not one of those situations where you jump in with both feet without fully understanding the big picture. You'll also need to be clear on the details. So cool your heels until you have everything figured out.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Taking a methodical approach. Completing a task. Whistling while you work. Concerns about ecological matters. Vegetarianism or veganism.

0-0



QUEEN of EARTH

SITUATIONS: You can make a difference! You have an amazing ability to take care of others and at the same time create great abundance. Your entrepreneurial ideas are destined to succeed. Be creative! Be innovative! This is the time for you to branch out and follow your heart when it comes to your career and life purpose. At the same time, remember to leave quiet moments in your life for the people who mean the most to you.

PEOPLE: An enterprising and down-toearth person who can achieve just about anything. Someone who is openhearted and nurturing to those around them. A person with a natural gift for design and decorating who surrounds themself with items of very high quality. An enjoyer of self-nurturing experiences like massage, Reiki, or going to a spa. ANGEL MESSAGE: It's all about balance right now. Yes, we know how excited you are for the future, and we're aware of your amazing talents. We also know how much those you love mean to you. You want to take on the world? Go for it! Just remember to leave time for family and friends.

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Focusing on good health and exercise. Form *and* function. An excellent parent. A love of nature.

0-0



KING of EARTH

SITUATIONS: All your plans are blessed right now! This is a time of great prosperity and success. Finances flow effortlessly and smoothly. Promotions or very positive changes in your job are likely. There may be unexpected career opportunities in the near future. Make sure you accept them!

PEOPLE: Someone whose professional life is soaring or who is at the pinnacle of their career. A powerful person who is deserving of this position due to hard work and great integrity. A very experienced person who genuinely knows what's best for every-one involved. Someone willing to offer up advice freely and with a warm heart.

ANGEL MESSAGE: You have the Midas touch right now, and every opportunity you seize will turn to gold (just like that generous and loving heart of yours). The Universe is going to shower you with amazing blessings, and no one is more deserving. Enjoy every moment of it!

ADDITIONAL MEANINGS OF THIS CARD: Wise investments. A fair and motivating manager of people. Environmental activism. Time to retire.

0------

ABOUT the ARTIST

Cocoo

DAN CRAIG, an award-winning freelance illustrator, lives and works in Saint Paul, Minnesota. His love of animals and the natural world is reflected in many of his paintings.

His work can be seen at www.ba-reps .com/illustrators/dan-craig.

To order prints, please contact him via e-mail: dancraigartist@gmail.com.

00

ABOUT the AUTHOR

Best-selling author RADLEIGH VALEN-TINE has inspired audiences around the world with his angelic messages of pure love and unconditional support. Imagine having an encouraging guardian angel or fairy "godbrother" whispering in your ear, helping you realize your purpose as a child of the Divine. He's created multiple divination decks, including the best-selling Angel Wisdom Tarot Cards and Angel Answer Oracle Cards. His books How to Be Your Own Genie and Compendium of Magical Things offer insightful, exhilarating lessons about how to manifest the life of your dreams and find your own unique language for communicating with the Divine. Radleigh's books and cards are published in over 20 languages worldwide.

An internationally loved spiritual teacher and speaker, Radleigh has presented at more than 100 events in 10 countries and also teaches thousands of students a

year via his online school. Blending humor with spiritual poignancy, his teachings enchant audiences with the message that each and every one of us deserves to live a magical life. For more information, please visit www.radleighvalentine.com.



We hope you enjoyed this Hay House book. If you'd like to receive our online catalog featuring additional information on Hay House books and products, or if you'd like to find out more about the Hay Foundation, please contact:



Hay House, Inc., P.O. Box 5100, Carlsbad, CA 92018-5100 (760) 431-695 or (800) 654-5126 (760) 431-6948 (fax) or (800) 650-5115 (fax) www.hayhouse.com[®] • www.hayfoundation.org

Published in Australia by: Hay House Australia Pty. Ltd., 18/36 Ralph St., Alexandria NSW 2015 Phone: 612-9669-4299 • Fax: 612-9669-4144 www.hayhouse.com.au

Published in the United Kingdom by: Hay House UK, Ltd., The Sixth Floor, Watson House, 54 Baker Street, London W1U 7BU Phone: +44 (0)20 3927 7290 • Fax: +44 (0)20 3927 7291 www.hayhouse.co.uk

Published in India by: Hay House Publishers India, Muskaan Complex, Plot No. 3, B-2, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi 110 070 Phone: 91-11-4176-1620 • Fax: 91-11-4176-1630 www.hayhouse.co.in

> Access New Knowledge. Anytime. Anywhere.

Learn and evolve at your own pace with the world's leading experts.

www.hayhouseU.com

Anywhere, anytime card readings on your mobile device!

Download the mobile app and get a FREE 7-Day Trial

